IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LARRY J. JOHNSON,)

Appellant,)

V.)

STATE OF FLORIDA,)

Appellee)

CASE NO. 79-33 66458

FILED

JAN 24 1985

Chieft Deputy (Deriv

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal From Denial of Motion to Vacate by the Circuit Court of the 3rd Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Madison County, Florida, and On Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus

STEVE SELIGER
P.O. Box 324
Quincy, Florida 32351
(904) 875-2311

BAYA HARRISON The Murphy House 317 East Park Avenue Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 224-9887

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LARRY J. JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

CASE NO. 79-33

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

At the time of the preparation of this brief, the transcript of the hearing in the lower court was not available. References to that hearing and the summary of the hearing are compiled from the best recollection of counsel. Likewise, the written orders of the lower court were not available. References to those orders are paraphrased, not verbation quotations.

In this brief, the appellant will be referred to as "appellant" or Mr. Johnson. The appellee will be referred to as the "State" or "prosecution".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant was indicted by a Madison County Grand
Jury for the murder of James Maxwell Hadden and for armed
robbery. Appellant entered a not guilty plea but was
convicted by a jury as charged. After a penalty phase
advisory proceeding, the jury recommended death regarding the
murder charge. The trial judge then sentenced the appellant
to death for first degree murder conviction and to life
imprisonment for the armed robbery conviction.

Appellant's judgments and sentences were appealed to the Supreme Court of Florida which affirmed same. See

Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 185 (1983). Appellant filed, in the Supreme Court of the United States, a petition for a writ of certiorari to the Supreme Court of Florida. Certiorari was denied on April 30, 1984. See Johnson v. Florida,

U.S. ___, 104 S.Ct. (1984).

On July 5, 1984, appellant appeared before the Florida Board of Executive Clemency. On January 3, 1985, the Governor denied clemency and signed a death warrant effective from noon on January 23, 1985 to noon on January 30, 1985.

The Superintendent of Florida State Prison at Starke, Florida, where the appellant is incarcerated, has set appellant's execution for 7:00 A.M., January 29, 1985.

Appellant then filed in the circuit court his motion

to vacate judgment and sentence, pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Crim.P., as amended December 28, 1984. With that motion, appellant filed an application for stay of execution with supporting memorandum of law. There was also a motion to have the appellant present at any scheduled hearing.

A hearing on the motions and the application for stay of execution was scheduled and held on Tuesday, January 22, 1985 at 3:00 P.M.

On Wednesday, January 23, 1985, the circuit judge entered final orders denying the motion to vacate judgment and sentence; the motion to have the appellant present at the hearing; and the application for stay of execution.

Thereafter, the judge refused to stay Mr. Johnson's execution pending appeal to this Court.

A notice of appeal was filed January 23, 1985, timely vesting jurisdiction in this Court. The trial court also entered an order allowing Mr. Johnson to proceed without payment of costs incident to this appeal. Rule 9.430, Fla.R.App.P.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant was charged with fatally shooting James
Maxwell Hadden, a service station operator, in Madison County
on March 16, 1979. The direct evidence supporting the
state's case came primarily from Patty Burks, a seventeen
year old girl who had accompanied appellant for two weeks on

a trip to Florida from Kentucky. Ms. Burks, who had known appellant for nine years, made arrangements to leave her home in Beaver Dam, Kentucky, without her mother's knowledge or consent and to visit some of appellant's friends with him (TR.427,428). She packed a suitcase with a change of clothes, and met appellant at a railroad crossing (TR.429, 430). Instead of going to visit his friends in a Kentucky prison, appellant headed for Florida (TR.431). Despite Ms. Burks' protestations she stayed with appellant for the two weeks they traveled to and remained in Orange Park, Florida, living with him as though she were his wife (TR.432). Only once did she try to call her mother and she made no attempt to run away (TR.432).

On March 16, 1979, appellant and Ms. Burks decided to go to Minnesota where she had relatives; they planned to stop in Kentucky on the way (TR.432). As they drove west on Interstate 10, appellant said he wanted some cigarettes. He stopped at a service station in Lee, Florida. Ms. Burks was sent inside to buy the cigarettes. Appellant then entered carrying a sawed off 12 gauge shotgun (TR.435). The attendant, Mr. Hadden, tried to walk out but appellant told him to open the cash register (TR.435,436). At appellant's direction Ms. Burks removed the money and started out the door (TR.436). As she looked back she saw appellant shoot Mr. Hadden. The recoil from the shotgun cut appellant's lip

(TR.436). In the car afterward appellant said the man had a gun and "it was us or him" (TR.476). He also told Ms. Burks "dead witnesses don't talk" (TR.439). One hundred thirty five dollars plus change was taken from the station (TR.439).

When appellant and Ms. Burks returned to Beaver Dam, Kentucky, she went to her friends house while appellant waited down the road in his car (TR.441). Ms. Burks telephoned her mother and reported that "Larry Joe shot a guy" (TR.442). Ms. Burks waited in the house while the police were called. Several officers eventually arrived and appellant was arrested (TR 442,443).

When questioned by Florida Department of Law
Enforcement Agent James Taylor, appellant admitted he and Ms.
Burks left Orange Park for Kentucky on March 16th, and while
driving west on Interstate 10 he saw signs for Madison County
and the town of Lee. He also admitted to Taylor that in
Florida he had possessed the shotgun seized by Kentucky
authorities when he was arrested there but denied killing
anyone in Florida (TR. 609,610). Several months later,
however, while in a car with Madison County Deputy Sheriff
Fred Respress, appellant said "hanging him wouldn't undo what
he had already did and by putting him in the electric chair
wouldn't bring the man back." (TR. 633,634).

A latent fingerprint lifted from inside the door of

the service station (TR. 655,656) matched an inked print of one of appellant's fingers (TR.684). Shotgun pellets recovered from the brain of James Hadden at autopsy (TR.510) were examined by firearms expert Donald Champagne. Their weight was consistent with number five shot (TR.666,667). Twelve gauge shot shells seized from appellant's car in Kentucky (TR.523,524) were sectioned and found to contain number shot (TR.668). Pellets and wadding found in the service station also were consistent with the twelve gauge shells taken from appellant's car (TR.668,669).

<u>.•.</u>

The gun, which had been found under the front seat of appellant's car, was in good working order. Trigger pressure was about 6 1/2 pounds (TR.663). The recoil could cause the barrel to fly up into the face of the person holding the gun because it had no stock (TR.677). (Deputy Respress had noticed a bruise on appellant's lip when he saw him March 20, 1979 [TR.633]).

The license number from the plate on the front of appellant's car was the same as the number in a notebook found with Mr. Hadden's clothing after his death (TR.417).

Appellant did not testify or otherwise present evidence at the guilt phase and was found guilty of both murder and robbery.

In the penalty phase the state relied on (a) the evidence presented to prove guilt, (b) a stipulation that

appellant was on parole from Kentucky when Mr. Hadden was killed (TR.778), (c) a judgement and sentence against appellant for second degree assault, the offense for which he was on parole (TR.778), and (d) "rebuttal" testimony from two court-appointed psychiatrists, Doctors George W. Barnard and Frank Carrera who together had examined appellant before trial and who concluded that on March 16, 1979, he knew the difference between right and wrong and was aware of the nature and consequences of his acts (TR.779,787,794-802). Neither doctor was able to find any "direct" causal relationship between appellant's experiences while in Vietnam, or a subsequent head injury, and the killing of James Hadden (TR.787,801,802).

In the penalty phase appellant presented testimony of family members, service acquaintances, two psychologists and documentary evidence including reports of army psychiatrists.

Appellant's aunt, Alice Morton, was the sister of appellant's mother (TR.886). Appellant's biography was etched by Mr. and Mrs. Morton and appellant's sister, Carolyn Johnson Lee.

The Mortons lived in Owensboro, Kentucky, and appellant had lived with his grandmother, who raised him in the nearby small town of Livermoore, Kentucky, (TR.811). When he was five or six appellant's mother (whom he never knew [TR.889]) was killed in a car accident; his father died

of tuberculosis several years later (TR.812). Although appellant "didn't make real fine grades" (TR.812), and "never cared much" for school (TR.809) there were no "discipline problem[s]" (TR.812,809,887). School records verified these recollections (TR.888)

Appellant's grandmother lived next to the local National Guard Headquarters. As a boy appellant "looked up to military, he wanted to be in the military" (TR.893). When he was sixteen appellant dropped out of school and, by convincing someone he was older, joined the National Guard (TR.809,813). Following basic training, appellant returned to Livermoore but soon was on active duty when his National Guard unit was mobilized (TR.813). Appellant was released after about a year and again returned to Livermoore where he was employed first as a cook and then as an iron and steel worker constructing buildings and bridges (TR.814). By this time appellant had married his first wife. He lived and worked in the Livermoore-Owensboro area until 1967 or 1968 when he joined the Navy (TR.815). He was sent to Vietnam, returned, and was sent back there for a second tour (TR.816).

Appellant lived in California a short while after release from the Navy, then he and his second wife returned to Kentucky and lived with the Mortons (TR.816,817). This time appellant was different. According to Mr. Morton appellant's "personality changed. He was despondent at

times, quick tempered" (TR.816). Appellant's aunt "could see a big difference" in that "he was not as tender-hearted as he used to be" (TR.891).

Appellant rejoined the Livermoore National Guard (TR.817). Malcolm Brown, who had known appellant casually before, became well acquainted with him while both served in the unit (TR.828). Because of his prior service appellant "moved up quicker" than Brown, eventually becoming a sergeant and Brown's tank commander (TR.829,830). Appellant considered "one of the group" by the men in the company, most of whom were "pretty tight, stuck together" (TR.831); he was "well liked" by all of the men (TR.831). All that changed, however, after night manueuvers of September 14, 1974. A smoke grenade hit appellant on the head, dropping him to the front deck of the tank (TR.832,833). Appellant was bleeding and screaming for help; "there was blood all over the front deck of the tank" (TR.833). He was evacuated to a hospital and never attended drills again while Brown was in the Guard (TR.833,834). Until the time of that injury, appellant had been "well regarded" in the community (TR.833).

Charles Miller was the full time National Guardsman responsible for the day to day administration of the Livermoore unit (TR.836,837). Appellant's military records were explained. Appellant's service included the Army National Guard, the Army Reserve, and the Navy totalling over

twelve years; fifteen months of that duty was overseas (TR.838, 839).

٠.

Miller said that after being injured on September 14th appellant had been given emergency treatment at a civilian hospital. He was transferred to the Fort Campbell Army Hospital where he received out patient care for several months (TR.842). Later appellant was hospitalized in a psychiatric ward for "weeks or months" as a result of the injury (TR.843). The Army eventually discharged him because of the medical disability resulting from the smoke grenade injury (TR.843,844).

Mr. Miller attested to the change in appellant's personality. Before being injured he had been liked "real well" by the other men; afterward he was "a little more nervous, more serious about everything" as if "he was mad at the world" (TR.845). Following his discharge from the hospital, appellant telephoned Mr. Miller, saying he was going to re-enlist in the Guard. He claimed to have been assured by "the general" that he could return to duty; he claimed also to have been promoted and "been on jump status" while in the hospital (TR.846). Miller knew all this was impossible (TR.846).

The effects of appellant's head injury were described by his aunt and uncle, who saw him frequently. He complained of "headaches and dizziness," started "passing out" and was

"a little harder to get along with" (TR.818). An exhibit at trial was a letter from an ambulance driver describing an episode when appellant was unexplainedly unconscious for several hours. His wife told Mr. Morton of appellant having nightmares in which he would "wake up screaming" (TR.818). Appellant's behavior was characterized as despondent and short-tempered (TR.821); he became irritated with his children because of "those bad headaches" (TR.897). the brother of appellant's wife "jumped on him one night in his home" appellant began openly carrying a gun strapped around his belt "like a cowboy" (TR.821,893). impersonated a police officer (TR.894). Whether by accident or otherwise appellant shot his second wife. For this offense he was indicted and ultimately convicted of a lesser offense. This apparently was the only criminal offense on appellant's record.

The Mortons believed appellant was mentally ill and needed help (TR.821,895). Appellant sought psychiatric treatment not only at Fort Campbell, but at a V.A. clinic in Evansville (TR.820). The sheriff and others in Ohio County were contacted but were told nothing could be done "till he hurt somebody" (TR.894). Through one of the local judges, appellant's sister had him committed to a hospital in Murfreesboro, Tennessee, for two or three weeks (TR.822,895). Other efforts to have him hospitalized apparently failed

because "his wife had the say-so about that" (TR.895).

Appellant did not like being discharged from the service; he "wanted to make a career of it" (TR.893).

Although Mrs. Morton had observed changes in appellant when he returned from Vietnam "the most difference was after he was hit on the head with the smoke bomb" (TR.892).

After being arrested for the Hadden murder, appellant had been given a psychological evaluation by clinical neuro-psychologist Dr. Elizabeth McMahon. She interviewed appellant, reviewed his medical records, and administered a series of tests which measured intelligence, neurological function and personality (TR.900-908). These tests showed (a) appellant was below average in intelligence with an I.Q. in the 70's (TR.901); (b) he had brain damage, described as generalized bilateral cortical disfunction (TR.904); and (c) he was an anxious, emotionally immature individual who tended to lose control under stress (TR.907,908).

Appellant described the shooting incident to Dr. McMahon as follows:

[H] aving been in the gas station, having acquired the money . . . the gas station attendant was some distance from him . . . He stated that the man, as he saw it, reached to the back pocket and . . . he saw something black. From Mr. Johnson's perception, he saw this as, or perceived this in his own head, and stated he had a gun, he fired as he was turning, and ran. (TR.912).

Appellant's reactions during the robbery were "very compatible with his general state, general condition" (TR.912). The relationship between appellant's "cognitive deficiencies" and a stressful situation was put this way:

Intelligence is the kind of ability to think and reason. Because he does not have that ability to a large degree, he has less of an ability to think a thing through. The language barrier, it comes out with an alternative, a more reasonable, I could do this and this and this. Under stress he tends to break down and lose control and simply react in a, what you might term, a shotgun approach. He is just not goal directed. His behavior lost all goal direction. He was just reacting as opposed to trying to solve the problem. (TR.911).

Through the combination of low mental ability, cognitive deficiencies and lack of personality development, the appellant was under extreme mental or emotional

This brief description of the actions of Mr. Hadden conforms to Patty Burks' original statement given to Agent Taylor on March 20, 1979. She said then "he [Hadden] turned around, he walked off, you know he went to the back . . . And I guess he had something on him because he reached in his back and he looked out the window . . . Then Larry shot him." (R.1013,1014).

disturbance, extreme duress and "beyond any choice to conform his behavior to the requirements of law" at the time he pulled the trigger (TR.912-914).

Between the guilt and penalty trial appellant was examined by psychologist Dr. Charles R. Figley, one of the nation's foremost authorities on post-traumatic stress among Vietnam veterans (TR.850-855). Dr. Figley concluded that appellant had been exposed to several "life-threatening situations over there and that subsequent to that time, he did re-experience those life-threatening experiences following military service" (TR.858,859). The stress appellant had undergone in Vietnam was "[s]ignificant in that it would have a long-lasting effect." It would affect his behavior "after he came back" and "years later" (TR.860). Dr. Figley described the combination of appellant's Vietnam experiences and the 1974 injury, saying:

I think when Mr. Johnson came back from Vietnam he was traumatized by his experience and could not put Vietnam away, even though he tried a great deal over the next two years. He adjusted fairly well. He had fewer and fewer nightmares. He felt less paranoid. Again, it is a rather common reaction in that he had fewer exposures to the war. He wanted to stay in the military because he enjoyed the I think this is one of the more military. important components. I think he was going to make a career of the military until he found out what war was like. He was shipped over for another tour of duty. He cut that tour of duty short when he was exposed to some very stressful situations. When he was hit by the smoke cannister, I think it resurrected a lot of the fears he experienced in Vietnam, I think. (TR.866).

Until hit by the smoke cannister appellant had begun to forget the details of the Vietnam trauma but that injury "brought back the fact that the war was still with him, there was a potential of him being killed" (TR.866). This led to appellant's "use of weapons as a desperate attempt to control the amount of threat to him" (TR.867).

Dr. Figley had reviewed the statements of the witnesses and discussed with appellant the details of the offense. Appellant told him that after he and Ms. Burks held up the station attendant "she was leaving and he claims that he was under threat. He thought the guy was reaching for a gun and immediately shot him" (TR.868). At that time appellant was under the influence of "extreme mental disturbance" (TR.868). In terms of appellant's ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, Dr. Figley said:

I think it did not impair him in terms of going in and robbing. In terms of his reactions to the stress, in other words, his fear that the man was going to kill him, was going to threaten him, he immediately reacted very, very quickly without thinking. (TR.868)

After he was in the station and ready to leave, I think because of his Vietnam experience, because of the post-traumatic stress he was experiencing there, he was definitely impaired in that he acted without thinking, on impulse. (TR.882).

The jury's subsequent recommendation of death as the proper sentence (R.1118) was followed by the decision of the

trial judge who found as aggravating circumstances:

- A. Appellant was under sentence of imprisonment. Sec 921.141(5)(a), Fla. Stat. (1979).
- B. Appellant had been previously convicted of a felony involving use or threat of use of violence to another. Sec 921.141(5)(b).
- C. Appellant was engaged in the commission of robbery when the capital felony was committed. Sec 912.141(5)(d).
- D. Appellant committed the capital felony for pecuniary gain. Sec 921.141(5)(f).
- E. Appellant committed the capital felony for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest and to hinder the enforcement of laws. Sec 921.141(5)(e), (TR.1130,1136).

The court rejected all evidence which appellant had offered at the penalty phase by finding that there were no mitigating circumstances (R.1136).

In explaining his decision to impose death the court said:

The aggravating circumstances warrant the imposition of the death sentence and there are no mitigating circumstances to outweigh the aggravating circumstances.

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