IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 25 1985

CLERK SUPREME LOURT Chief Deputy Clerk CASE NO. 600458

LARRY JOE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General

MARK C. MENSER Assistant Attorney General

Department of Legal Affairs The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The order disposed of the Appellant's claims as follows:

- Ground One: a claim which could have been appealed, if preserved. Also, a claim refuted on its face by the record, and barred as estopped.
- (2) Ground Two: an issue which could have been appealed.

-5-

- (3) Ground Three: an issue refuted by the record and which should or could have been appealed.
- (4) Ground Four: an issue which could or should, if preserved, have been raised on appeal.
- (5) Ground Five: a collection of claims either previously appealed, available but not raised on appeal, legally meritless or disproven by the record.
- (6) Ground Six: a <u>Witherspoon</u> claim which could have been appealed if preserved, and totally unsupported by the record.
- (7) Ground Seven: an issue previously appealed to the Florida Supreme Court, containing additional claims which could have, if preserved, been appealed.
- (8) Ground Eight: a claim more befitting coram nobis than 3.850 relief, seeking to relitigate issues raised on appeal.
- (9) Ground Nine: a statistical claim which will not support 3.850 relief as a matter of law. [This issue also could, if preserved, have been raised on appeal, incidentally].
- (10) Ground Ten: an issue previously raised on direct appeal.

The Court's order included relevant record excerpts conclusively refuting false claims of "involuntary removal from the courtroom" and some "improper" leave to call state witnesses out of turn. Also appendixed was the argument portion of Johnson's brief.

The remaining issues were refuted by the absence of record objections or proffers.

It is interesting to note that at the same time Johnson is misrepresenting some entitlement to an evidentiary hearing on

-6-

his 3.850 petition he has <u>also</u> filed a habeas corpus petition alleging ineffective assistance of <u>appellate</u> counsel for not raising several of these same issues on appeal! Thus, Johnson concedes his lack of standing, (entitlement) for an evidentiary hearing.

The lower court was clearly justified in summarily rejecting this case. <u>Christopher v. State</u>, 416 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1982); <u>Palmes v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1983); see also <u>Demps v</u>. <u>State</u>, 416 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1982).

A. VOLUNTARY WITHDRAWAL

The Appellant contends that he was involuntarily removed from the courtroom during the testimony of his own witness, Dr. McMahon.

The Appellant's 3.850 petition grossly misrepresented that his withdrawal was (a) involuntary and (b) a removal. This, as Appellant is well aware, is not true.

The truth, as clearly shown at (R-901-902) is that Johnson, through counsel, <u>asked</u> to leave the courtroom pursuant to a "prior arrangement" with <u>his own witness</u>. Johnson <u>never</u> contested his lawyer's request. The reason for the agreement was set forth by Johnson's witness, Dr. McMahon. She testified that "subsequent testing" could be adversely affected by Johnson's exposure to his charts in open court, and that his presence would not be in his best interest!

-7-

No claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel has been asserted. In addition, we must presume competent counsel:

- (a) discussed this with his client.
- (b) used the pronoun "we" in reference to his client, the witness and himself.
- (c) had prior knowledge of this witness' testimony since she was his witness.
- (d) had no need of Mr. Johnson's advice regarding the proper method of questioning his own witness.

Similarly, since she was a friendly witness, Johnson did not need to "confront" her.

On appeal, the factual misrepresentation has been partially abandoned (although the phrase "involuntarily removed" still appears) in favor of a claim regarding Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.180.

The lower court's consideration of <u>that</u> rule did <u>not</u> require an evidentiary hearing (thus we have no reversible error) because the argument presumes voluntary withdrawal from the courtroom.

The voluntary withdrawal of the defendant without a special 3.180 based inquiry was an issue which could, if preserved, have been raised on appeal -- as conceded by Johnson in his Habeas Corpus petition. Thus, no entitlement to relief existed. Raulerson v. State, supra.

More important may be the nature of this claim.

In <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971), this court declared that the rules of criminal procedure do not exist to create "procedural escape hatches" for clever defendants. The violation of a mere rule of criminal procedure does not

-8-

constitute fundamental error, per se, in any event.

In this case, any "error" regarding Rule 3.180¹ was provoked by the Appellant. If the trial court granted his request, this claim was set up as a consequence, had the request been denied, a "due process" claim alleging judicial interference with a defense witness would have been forthcoming -- along with some affidavit from Dr. McMahon regarding "what I could have said on Johnson's behalf."

Johnson and his attorney, whose competence is unquestioned, deemed it to be a necessary strategy to have Johnson leave the room while his doctor provided candid, exculpatory, testimony.

It is to the credit of Mr. Hunt and appellate counsel that they had the ethics not to raise a 3.180 claim on direct appeal.

In <u>Curry v. Wilson</u>, 405 Fed.2d 110, 113 (9th Cir. 1968), the court said:

> "It would be a perversion of the judicial process to now give Curry the best of two worlds upon the basis of such an alleged statement by his counsel."

"A contrary result would enable counsel for a defendant to try one strategy by deliberately using, for his client's benefit, evidence that could be claimed to be constitutionally tainted and then, if not satisfied with the result, to get a second trial by claiming that the constitutional

1

The state does not agree Rule 3.180 has been violated. The rule does not address nor seek to regulate strategic decisions by defendants.

taint required a reversal dispite his tactical decision."

Similarly, in <u>Spaziano v. Florida</u>, U.S. , 82 L.Ed. 2d 340 (1984), the Supreme Court found no basis for relief in Spaziano's being "forced" to waive a "limitations" defense in exchange for lesser-offense instructions "required" by <u>Beck v</u>. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 (1980).

The Supreme Court said that we must look past the verbiage of given "rules" to get to the reasons <u>for</u> those rules and the effect of any rule (or deviation) on the fact finding process and the reliability of any result! (The Court noted that the giving of <u>Beck</u> instructions would "hoodwink" the jury, so the requested waiver of the limitations defense, and Spaziano's tactical "walk or burn" refusal to accept the offer, did not constitute error.).

One would hope lawyers, as officers of the court, would not engage in misrepresentations or sandbagging. Mr. Hunt, as an officer of the court, made a truthful representation of an agreement between counsel, client and witness for the benefit of the defendant. Johnson never objected to this representation. Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501 (1976).

When this issue was raised in a belated effort to stay Johnson's execution, the trial court was presented with an issue which counsel was estopped from raising on appeal but, had there been some objection or error, which <u>could</u> have been raised on appeal.

-10-

Obviously, summary denial was in order.

Finally, Appellant now represents that "the Eleventh Circuit has repeatedly held the defendant's right to be present at a capital trial is so fundamental that it cannot be waived." (Brief, p. 23).

His cited cases, <u>Proffit v. Wainwright</u>, 685 Fed.2d 1227 (11th Cir. 1982) <u>modified on reh'g</u>, 706 Fed.2d 311 (11th Cir. 1983), <u>cert</u>. <u>den</u>., <u>U.S.</u>, 104 S.Ct. 508, 78 L.Ed.2d 697; and <u>Hall v. Wainwright</u>, 733 Fed.2d 766 (11th Cir. 1984) do not support this contention.

Originally, <u>Proffitt</u> said waiver was impossible, but altered its opinion to delete this "absolute" rule on rehearing. <u>Hall</u>, (<u>cert</u>. pending), involves a current Eleventh Circuit case which, if affirmed, involves a remand for the purpose of determining the existence of a <u>voluntary waiver</u>. If a voluntary waiver is impossible, why the remand?²

Again, this issue is argued at length in the accompanying habeas corpus petition. As far as 3.850 relief is concerned, the issue was not properly before the court. No express violation of a procedural rule occurred. No claim of entitlement to relief may stem from invited error. As a matter of law, Johnson was not entitled to relief from his tactical decisions.

2

Note that Appellant's cases of <u>Francis</u> and <u>Herzog</u> did not involve voluntary, announced, withdrawals from the courtroom by a (present) defendant.

<u>POINT II</u>

THE PROSECUTOR'S USE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES DID NOT AFFORD A BASIS FOR RELIEF.

The Appellant, who is white, (as was his victim) had the affrontery, in possible violation of EC 7-26 and EC 7-27, to represent that the prosecutor used his peremptory challenges to exclude black veniremen on the basis of their race. The Appellant admitted he had no evidence on which to base this unwarranted attack on the integrity of counsel and also conceded that at least three of the State's peremptory challenges were used to exclude <u>white</u> veniremen. (There is no allegation that Mr. Blair is color blind).

The final jury, incidentally, was composed of 5 to 7 blacks and 5 whites.

There was never any allegation of racial bias against any particular juror, black or white. Nor was the peremptory exclusion of a black venireman by defense counsel raised as a racially motivated decision.

Had there been misconduct, and <u>had</u> there been some objection thereto by competent defense counsel, the issue <u>could</u> have been raised on appeal whether or not present counsel agrees with Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202 (1965).

Given the admitted lack of proof, the unsupported and scandalous nature of the attack, and the availability of this issue (had it existed or been preserved) for direct appeal,

-12-

relief pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 was properly, summarily, denied.

The Appellant, of course, does not mention that <u>State v</u>. <u>Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984) does not have retroactive application.

POINT III

RELIEF WAS PROPERLY DENIED ON APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HE HAS ACCUMULATED MORE EVIDENCE OF POST-TRAUMATIC STRESS DISORDER.

Mr. Johnson's allegedly "traumatic" Vietnam experience of having a prostitute pull a knife on him and seeing a vehicle hit a land mine and his subsequent National Guard accident (getting hit in the head with a "smoke grenade", a non-explosive tin can) were considered by four expert witnesses³, the sentencing judge and the advisory jury. The issue of mitigation was considered on appeal by this Court.

Johnson petitioned for relief on the theory that his accumulation of additional "PTSD" material and the prospect of different testimony by one psychiatrist entitled him to relief. The Appellant failed to represent that his "PTSD" material dates

3

Both psychiatrists and <u>Defense</u> witness Dr. Figley <u>agreed</u> that no direct link between the crime and these incidents exists.

back to the bombing of Hiroshima, and was entirely available at the time of this trial.

In <u>Booker v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 756 (Fla. 1982), this Court held that a claim such as this would not support a petition for 3.850 relief. See also <u>Smith v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981). New interpretations of extant data do not constitute "newly discovered evidence" either, thus precluding alternative "coram nobis" relief. <u>Booker v.State</u>, <u>supra</u>. Both of these cases were relied upon sub judice, and 3.850 relief was summarily denied. Of course, issues previously argued on appeal cannot be reargued by 3.850.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REJECTED FACTUALLY AND LEGALLY MERITLESS CLAIMS WHICH EITHER WERE RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL OR COULD HAVE BEEN RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL.

Johnson's Petition raised issues which were factually unsupported, legally meritless, already appealed (in some instances) or waived for want of objection (at trial) or presentment on appeal. This "grab-bag" of claims was properly rejected on procedural grounds. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850, <u>Raulerson</u> <u>v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Christopher v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Taken seriatim:

 The arguments of the State Attorney, <u>if</u> offensive in every reported instance, were appealed or were unavailable for review for want of any contemporaneous objection.

- (2) The "Witherspoon" issue was never preserved by contemporaneous objection and is, in any event, unsupported by the record. <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, U.S. _____, (1985), case no. 83-1427, January 21, 1985.
- (3) The claim that the jury was "misled" in being told its sentencing verdict was advisory and that it should be reached by majority vote was rejected by the court as legally meritless. <u>Smith v. State</u>, So.2d (Fla. 1984), 9 FLW 442, and as one which could have, if preserved, been appealed.

Here, it must be noted that if every perceived error is to be deemed "fundamental," thus sidestepping Rule 3.850, as suggested by Appellant, then this "fundamental" error could have been raised on direct appeal and thus revives the procedural bar of Rule 3.850.

The Appellant contends that the giving of <u>correct</u> jury instructions was fundamental error, knowing this to be untrue.

The Appellant contends that his arguments regarding unobjected-to instructions and/or arguments constitute fundamental error just because he alleges, post-appeal, the existence of fundamental error. He, of course, carefully omits any reference to <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978) or <u>Castor v</u>. <u>State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978) or this Court's decision in this case on direct appeal. He also fails to show error or demonstrable bias.

-15-

POINT V

THE APPELLANT'S REPRESENTATION IS IN ERROR.

Johnson stipulated to the calling of two state psychiatrists as witnesses, out of order, as a matter of professional courtesy. Thus, the so-called "anticipatory rebuttal".

The misrepresentation that <u>Battie v. Estelle</u>, 655 Fed.2d 692 (5th Cir. 1981) cannot stand unprotested. That case clearly states:

> "Accordingly, a defendant can invoke the protection of the privilege when he does <u>not introduce mental health expert testi-</u> <u>mony." (id., at 702, emphasis added).</u>

The record shows that the only reason the State's experts testified first was that, as a matter of courtesy, (so they could return to Gainesville) both lawyers agreed to let them.

This agreed act cannot be perverted (<u>Curry</u>, <u>supra</u>) into some claim of constitutional error just because the State's experts testified first.

In any event, either estoppel or the availability of this issue for appellate review precluded 3.850 relief.

As Appellant notes, <u>Battie</u> can be applied to pre-1981 cases because it merely affirmed pre-existing law and did not create "<u>new</u>" rights. Thus, the issue could and should have been appealed, if preserved, and 3.850 relief is unavailable.

-16-

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED REVIEW TO ISSUES PREVIOUSLY APPEALED OR FOR WHICH APPELLATE REVIEW WAS AVAILABLE.

Rather than redundantly create additional "points" reiterating the same principal, suffice it to say that Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 simply does not permit endless reargument of complaints raised on appeal (such as whether mitigating circumstances were properly weighed, found or rejected) or de novo assertion of waived appellate issues.

The Appellant is aware of the rule, and is aware that his petition was rejected for its facial deficiency and procedural defaults (or errors) and <u>not</u> on the "merits" of each claim as alleged.

POINT VII

THE WITHERSPOON ISSUE IS NOT A VIABLE BASIS FOR 3.850 RELIEF.

Appellant fails to mention that no "Witherspoon" objection was raised in reaction to the exclusion of veniremen Stephenson and Bellamy. Appellant also neglects to mention that his "Witherspoon" claim has been <u>eliminated</u>, not preserved, by operation of <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, _____ U.S. ____ (1985), case no. 83-1427, (January 21, 1985), (which holds that jurors may be

-17-

excused for cause even when their "transcript responses" use "indefinite" language -- because the trial judge who <u>observes</u> the juror is in a better position to guage the juror's bias.)

CONCLUSION

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 does not exist as a substitute for appeal or a vehicle to raise issues that (1) were not argued on direct appeal or (2) could have been argued on appeal, if preserved or (3) were unsuccessfully argued on direct appeal.